
  

 

LAKE FOREST LIBRARY BOARD OF TRUSTEES  

Lake Forest Library, 360 East Deerpath Road, Lake Forest, IL 60045 

Kasian Room, Lower Level 

Tuesday, July 12, 2022, 7:30 pm 

Regular Meeting  

 

The Lake Forest Library provides members of the public present at the meetings with an opportunity 
to participate in the meeting. No prior registration is necessary. The meeting agenda and materials 
are available on the Library website. The meeting will be recorded. The minutes of the meeting will 
be available on the Library website after they are approved by the Library Board of Trustees. Current 
and past meeting information, including recordings, is available at: www.lakeforestlibrary.org/board-
minutes. 
 

Agenda 

1. Welcome and call meeting to order. 
2. Board of Trustees roll call. 
3. Call for Additions to the Agenda. 
4. Opportunity for the Public to Address the Board. 
5. Correspondence and Information Report.  
6. Consent Agenda (omnibus vote on matters 6(a)-6(d): 

a. Approval of the July 12, 2022 Agenda 

b. Approval of the May 10, 2022 Amended Regular Meeting Minutes 

c. Approval of the June 14, 2022 Regular Meeting Minutes 
d. Approval of the June 2022 Financial Report 

7. Committees:  
a. Building Committee report and recommendation  
b. Approval of an amendment to the December 15, 2021 AIA (Standard Abbreviated Form 

of Agreement Between Owner and Architect) between the Board of Trustees of the 
Library and Wiss, Janney, Elstner Associates, Inc. 

8. No action item: Library Operations report.  
9. Executive Session pursuant to 5 ILCS 120/2(21) review of minutes of the Executive Sessions held 

on June 8, 2021, February 8, 2022, and May 10, 2022. 
10. Approval of the recommendation of the regarding the minutes of the Executive Sessions held on 

June 8, 2021, February 8, 2022, and May 10, 2022. 
11. Unfinished Business. 
12. New Business. 
13. Adjournment.  

 
Upcoming Meetings: Regular Board: August 9, 2022; September 13, 2022 

 

Special meetings may be called at any time with proper notice pursuant to the Library’s bylaws. 
Individuals with disabilities who require certain accommodations in order to allow them to observe 
and/or participate in this meeting, or who have questions regarding the accessibility of the meetings 
or the facilities are requested to contact the Library Director at 847.810.4602 promptly to allow the 
Library to make reasonable accommodations. 

http://www.lakeforestlibrary.org/board-minutes
http://www.lakeforestlibrary.org/board-minutes


  

 

PUBLIC COMMENT AT BOARD MEETINGS POLICY 

The Illinois Open Meetings Act provides in Section 2.06 that at meetings of public bodies, “any person 
shall be permitted an opportunity to address public officials under the rules established and recorded 
by the public body.” 5 ILCS 120/2.06(g).  

The Board of Trustees welcomes public participation. This policy provides the following rules and 
guidelines for public participation at its meetings. 

Individuals attending board meetings must conduct themselves with respect and civility toward 
others. Abusive, profane, threatening, or harassing language and/or personal attacks will not be 
permitted. The Board President or presiding officer may prohibit further comment at the meeting by 
a speaker whose remarks violate this rule.  

Public comments are permitted during the time designated on the Board of Trustees meeting 
agenda, unless otherwise directed by the Board President.  

The Board President determines the order in which speakers will be recognized.  

When recognized by the Board President, the speaker should begin by stating his or her name and 
address.  

Public comments will ordinarily be limited to three (3) minutes per speaker. The Board President 
shall have discretion to modify this time limit, as well as to limit repetitive comments. 

Members of the public will not be allowed to speak a second time until all members of the public 
who wish to speak have been allowed to do so. The Board President will determine whether second 
public comments will be permitted, and if so, the appropriate amount of time for public discussion, 
and will end public comment at his/her discretion.  

Board members are not obligated to respond to comments from the public. Issues requiring possible 
action by the board may be added to a future meeting agenda, and issues that can be addressed by 
library administration will be noted.  

A copy of these guidelines will be placed next to the sign-in sheet made available to members of the 
public at the entrance to board meetings. 

Petitions or written correspondence directed to the board shall be presented to the board by the 
Board President or Secretary at the next regularly scheduled board meeting.  

Minutes are a summary of the board’s discussion and actions. Speaker requests to append written 
statements or correspondence to the minutes are not favored. Generally, written materials 
presented to the board will be included in the library’s files rather than in the minutes. The Board 
President shall have the authority to determine procedural matters regarding public participation 
not otherwise defined in these guidelines.  

(Approved by the Library Board of Trustees January 9, 2018.) 



   
 

July 12, 2022 Board Information and Correspondence Report   Page 1 of 2 
 

Agenda Item 5 
Correspondence and Information Report for July 12, 2022 Board Meeting 

Patron Comments/Suggestions:  Comments come via phone, email, and U.S. post. All comments that 
contain contact information receive a response.   
 
06/28/2022 Marilyn Criche [contact information]. Thank you so much for delivering books to Lake 
Forest Place.  The more it’s hard for me to get out to the library and to other activities the more 
important books become.  Your deliveries are so very important to those of us who have trouble 
getting around.  
_____________________________________________________________________________  
06/11/22 Tricia Anderson [contact information]. She recently returned an exploration kit and she 
had said that she loved seeing the kids work on building the experiments from this kit together 
and wishes she had borrowed it sooner.  
_____________________________________________________________________________  
6/8/2022 Lauran Rankin [contact information] 
The Exploration Kits are wonderful and much appreciated part of the collection, she talks about 
them to everyone and they are always so impressed. Her kids like the different subjects and 
variety. 
 

 



OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY OF STATE 
JESSE WHITE  • Secretary of State and State Librarian 

_____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ ______ 
Illinois State Library 

Gwendolyn Brooks Building 
Springfield, Illinois  62701 

June 29, 2022 

Catherine Lemmer, Library Director 
Lake Forest Library 
360 East Deerpath Road 
Lake Forest, Illinois  60045-2252 

Dear Director Lemmer: 

I am pleased to award the Lake Forest Library a FY 2022 Illinois Public Library Per Capita Grant in the 
amount of $28,566.33.  Over $18 million is being awarded this year. 

Illinois Public Library Per Capita and Equalization Aid Grants help ensure public libraries have the 
resources to address the needs of the community.  Libraries count on these grants for important 
expenses, such as purchasing materials, supporting programming, and improving technology. 

Libraries have until June 30, 2023, to obligate these grant funds and until August 15, 2023, to expend 
them.  The FY 2022 expenditures report must be submitted with the FY 2024 application, due January 
30, 2024. 

The official service area population for your library is 19,367.  Please be sure to use this figure on future 
per capita grant applications and Illinois Public Library Annual Reports (IPLAR).  The official population 
figure for your library is based on the 2020 U.S. Census and can only be changed with proper 
documentation.  Proper documentation includes official U.S. Census Bureau letters and/or annexation 
or referendum confirmations. 

Our public libraries are truly the cornerstones of our communities.  They are a lifesaver for many and are 
the most reliable resource Illinois citizens have to obtain information. 

I am extremely proud of the outstanding service public libraries provide to patrons. 

Sincerely, 

Jesse White 
Secretary of State and State Librarian 

cc:  Carrie Travers
 Lake Forest Library Per Capita File 
 JW:isl



   
 

   
 

Lake Forest Library Board of Trustees 
360 E Deerpath Road, Lake Forest, IL 60045 

Amended Regular Meeting Minutes 
7:30 p.m., May 10, 2022 

Marked to show changes 
 
CALL TO ORDER  
President John F. Johnson, welcomed all, and called the meeting to order at 7:30 p.m.  
 
ROLL CALL 
Trustees Present: Germaine Arnson, Bryan Bertola, Jim Clifton, JoAnn Desmond, Elizabeth Grob, 
John F. Johnson, Andrea Lemke, Sue Shattock, and Heather Strong.   
9 trustees in attendance, a quorum was present. 
Staff Present: Ed Finn, Director of Operations; Sameer Notta, Finance Officer 
Absent: Catherine Lemmer, Executive Director 
 
CALL FOR ADDITIONS TO THE AGENDA   
None  
 
OPPORTUNITY FOR THE PUBLIC TO ADDRESS THE BOARD 
Susan Athenson, President of the Lake Forest Preservation Foundation, thanked the Board 
for video recording the April 12th Library Board meeting.  The Board will continue video 
recordings for their meetings. 
 
CORRESPONDENCE REPORT 
No discussion. 
 
APPROVAL OF THE CONSENT AGENDA 
Consent Agenda (omnibus vote on matters 6(a)-6(e)):  

a. Approval of the May 10, 2022 Agenda  
b. Approval of April 12, 2022 Regular Meeting Minutes  
c. Approval of the April 2022 Financial Report  
d. Approval of renewal contract with Outsource IT Solutions Group (OSG)  
e. Approval of FY2023 non-resident card fee of $628.17 

 
Trustee Lemke asked if the non-resident card fee covers the entire family or is it only for an 
individual.  Mr. Finn answered the question, later in the meeting, that the $628.17 fee covers the 
entire family’s ability to use the Lake Forest Library.  Trustee Strong asked if there was a cap on 
the number of non-resident cards purchased.  President Johnson stated that he is not aware of a 
cap on the number of cards.  
 
Trustee Arnson made a motion and seconded by Trustee Grob to approve the Consent Agenda.  
9 yea votes. Motion passed unanimously on a roll call vote. 
 



 
Lake Forest Library Board of Trustees 
Regular Meeting Minutes 
May 10, 2022 
 
 

Page 2 of 6 
 

DISCUSSION AND APPROVAL OF INCREASE IN LIABILITY COVERAGE 
Trustee Desmond stated that she believes that the recommendation supplied by the insurance 
company, Hill & Stone Insurance Agency, Inc. was adequate as presented at the April Board 
meeting. Trustee Grob mentioned the acknowledged lack of accessibility in the Library and 
wanted Library Board members sufficiently covered in the case of an incident occurring on the 
Library premises. 
 
Trustee Desmond made a motion and seconded by Trustee Shattock to accept the 
recommendation of Hill & Stone Insurance Agency Inc., presented at the April 12th Board Meeting 
regarding liability coverage.  9 yea votes. Motion passed unanimously on a roll call vote. 
 
COMMITTEE REPORTS 
President Johnson informed the Board that Trustee Bertola and Trustee Arnson consented to 
serve on the Nominating Committee to develop the officer slate for the election of the officers 
for the FY2023 Library Board.  He will serve as the third member of the Committee.  The 
Committee will present the officer slate during the June 14th meeting. 
 
Trustee Desmond made a motion, seconded by Trustee Lemke, to approve the members of the 
Nominating Committee to create the slate of officers for the FY2023 Library Board. 9 yea votes. 
Motion passed unanimously on a roll call vote. 

Trustee Bertola, Chairperson of the Building Committee, introduced Ken Itle from Wiss, Janney, 
Elstner Associates, Inc. (“WJE”), to present recommendations for the Dome repair and 
restoration project. Mr. Itle reminded the Board of the terminology used in the description of the 
Dome and adjacent structures. He described how the design of the dome and adjacent structure 
handles rain as it descends off the building. He pointed out the structural problems and how to 
better manage the water to alleviate damage to the Library interior and exterior structure. 

He recommended keeping the original 1930s skylight with repairs to cracked glass and sealant 
work to the joinery. Mr. Itle suggested that the existing leaded lead coated copper (1984 vintage 
material), wood battens, and felt underlayment for the gypsum deck, be removed on the Dome. 
Replacement materials include a rubberized underlayment, new wood battens, and tin-zinc alloy 
coated copper roofing to match the original copper detailing. 

At the base of the Dome, he proposed a slight modification to the primary cornice detail to 
include subtracting a curve and including a gutter into the assembly which would help manage 
the rain drainage to keep water off the masonry walls. Mr. Itle suggested that work be done on 
the corner areas by removing all the 1980s material to get down to the original structural deck 
and apply new underlayment and coated copper-coated roofing to match the profiles and details 
of the existing Dome. There may be subtle changes to the corner piers but would not be visible 
from ground level. 

Formatted: Strikethrough



 
Lake Forest Library Board of Trustees 
Regular Meeting Minutes 
May 10, 2022 
 
 

Page 3 of 6 
 

The stone masonry would be cleaned, joints resealed, and copper flashings added to skyward 
facing surfaces. The gutters on the perimeter would remain. The brick masonry walls need 
repointing at the joints on the four walls under the Dome down to grade level. 

Interior repair work would include cleaning the efflorescent by dry brushing the walls, repointing 
joints, replacing a small quantity of bricks to restore the wall to its original integrity. Also, he 
suggested adding three inches of insulation to the Dome roof, without creating moisture 
problems. Also, tap into duct work in the Rotunda area to add conditioned air into the attic space 
to add warmth in the winter, and cool and dehumidify in the summer, and to dry out the 
waterlogged masonry walls of the Dome. The steel trusses and the gypsum deck of the Dome are 
in good shape. The laylight in the lobby is in very good shape and only needs housekeeping after 
the project is completed. 

The cCeiling and walls needs plaster repair and then priming and painting. He recommended that 
work on the murals in the Rotunda be deferred because this work needs to be completed by a 
conservator and should be separate from the roof and mason contractors. Also, he believes that 
work on the murals should occur after the Dome repair and restoration is watertight and the 
project has settled, which may take several seasons to realize. Trustee Desmond asked if the 
murals should be removed from the walls before repair and restoration starts. Mr. Itle said it 
would not be feasible to remove them before the construction work starts. He stated the majority 
of the work will take place outside the building, but the plastering and painting contractors need 
to protect the murals, as well as all the interior finishes, when restoring the interior walls and 
ceiling. He stressed the importance of making sure the exterior is watertight at the end of each 
day of construction. 

Mr. Itle discussed the lead-coated copper used in the structure of the Dome and weathering 
effects on the exterior of the building. Due to health concerns a lot of manufacturers have 
dropped production of lead-coated copper so there is only one fabricator left in the U.S. He 
suggested a substitute material of tin-zinc-coated copper (Freedom Gray™) that will weather to 
a neutral gray. The material sample he provided to the Board was reflective but will lose its sheen 
to become dull over time. 

The construction phase for the Dome project will start with building scaffolding around the entire 
Dome area which will affect the courtyards and part of the northwest side parking lot. The next 
steps include the Library Board confirming the scope of the project, presenting to the Historic 
Preservation Commission on May 25th to obtain the Certificate of Appropriateness, moving 
forward with creating construction drawings and specs, obtaining construction bids and then 
completing the construction. Trustee Desmond asked if the Library could remain open during 
construction. Mr. Itle said that since most of the work takes place outside with only the smaller 
work occurring with the plaster repair and painting happening inside, he believed the Library 
could remain open. He warned the Board that there will be dust and noise associated with the 



 
Lake Forest Library Board of Trustees 
Regular Meeting Minutes 
May 10, 2022 
 
 

Page 4 of 6 
 

construction. Trustee Desmond asked about the maintenance of the Dome over the years. Mr. 
Itle responded that the skylight would need attention to the sealant every 5-10 years to prevent 
gaps, the sheet metal work will be low maintenance, the gutters and the drainage need regular 
attention to prevent clogs from leaves and debris and keeping tabs on sealed joints where two 
different materials are joined. WJE could put a maintenance plan together. 

The entire project should take many months but less than a year to complete. President Johnson 
asked if the type of seams used will be solder or mechanical. Given the geometry and the 
complexity of the work, Mr. Itle responded that a lot of soldering will be needed. The contractors 
will have to demonstrate that they know how to solder a good seam, and that they understand 
the complexities of the wraps around the radius of the Dome. 

Mr. Itle answered questions from the community. 
Paul Bergmann asked about the damage of the wood battens. Mr. Itle responded that they would 
be replaced. Mr. Bergmann asked about bending the metal for the wrap without fatiguing the 
metal. Mr. Itle said that copper lends itself to being bent and warped without fatigue. 

Susan Athenson asked if the skylight will be opaque or clear to let light into the Rotunda. Mr. Itle 
responded that the skylight at the roof level is wire glass and the laylight is a milky, frosted glass. 
She asked about the downspouts located on the building. Mr. Itle said there will be two new 
downspouts located on the north side of the dome (rear) down to the flat roof area over the 
stacks out of view from most vantage points. Ms. Athenson asked about the wood kneewall 
below the dome structure as viewed from the interior of the dome attic. Mr. Itle answered that 
the wood infill wall below the dome and the masonry area is not structural and has a fair amount 
of water damage and would likely need to be replaced anyway so reworking it to accommodate 
the proposed gutter detail would not be a problem. 

Bob Shaw asked about the experience of WJE in completing this type of repair and restoration to 
domes and have they made similar recommendations to the client. Mr. Itle responded that every 
job is different, but he has been very happy with the results of the tin-zinc-copper used in other 
jobs. Mr. Shaw wanted clarification on timeframe of the job completion given supply chain issues 
and the effects of COVID. Mr. Itle agreed that these have been unusual times, but he believes 
that the completion of one year from the start time to completion is reasonable given that the 
material used are not uncommon or unusual. 

Ms. Atkinson asked about the risk of fire during the project. Mr. Itle said that open torches for 
soldering will not be used, and the contractors will need to be skilled in this process. Also, he 
addressed her question about his experience of dealing with this type of dome and he said the 
Library Dome is unique in some details and aspects. 



 
Lake Forest Library Board of Trustees 
Regular Meeting Minutes 
May 10, 2022 
 
 

Page 5 of 6 
 

Trustee Arnson made a motion and seconded by Trustee Desmond to authorize the submission 
of an Application to the Historic Preservation Commission for a Certificate of Appropriateness 
based on recommendations by Wiss, Janney, Elstner Associates, Inc. on the Dome Project. 9 yea 
votes. Motion passed unanimously on a roll call vote. 
 
LIBRARY OPERATIONS REPORT 
President Johnson called attention to Librarians on staff.  Michelle Frigo, Children’s Librarian, was 
nominated for the Illinois Library Association 2022 Youth Librarian of the Year. Emmy Neal, YA 
Librarian, was nominated for the Illinois Library Association 2022 YA Librarian of the Year.  Also, 
Kate Buckardt has been promoted to Head of Adult Services.  Also, he noted the popularity of the 
RFID system, with adults and children using the self-checkout machines.  Ed Finn updated the 
Board on the wrap over the Dome.  It should be completed soon even with the additional work 
that was needed and the delays due to weather. 
 
ADJOURNMENT TO EXECUTIVE SESSION 
President Johnson asked to adjourn the public meeting to enter Executive Session. The Library 
Board adjourned into Executive Session pursuant to 5 ILCS 120/2(c)(1): The appointment, 
employment, compensation, discipline, performance, or dismissal of specific employees of the 
public body or legal counsel for the public body, including hearing testimony on a complaint 
lodged against an employee of the public body or against legal counsel for the public body to 
determine its validity. 
 
Trustee Desmond made a motion and seconded by Trustee Shattock for adjournment of the 
public meeting at 8:37 p.m. 9 yea votes. Motion passed unanimously on a roll call vote. 
 
RETURN TO REGULAR SESSION 
President Johnson called the meeting to order at 10:12 p.m. 
 
ROLL CALL 
Trustees Present: Germaine Arnson, Bryan Bertola, Jim Clifton, JoAnn Desmond, Elizabeth Grob, 
John F. Johnson, Andrea Lemke, Sue Shattock, and Heather Strong.   
9 trustees in attendance, a quorum was present. 
 
Trustee Desmond made a motion, seconded by Trustee Arnson, to open Regular Session.  
9 yea votes. Motion passed unanimously on a roll call vote. 
 
PRESIDENT’S REMARKS 
President Johnson called for a vote on the FY2023 annual compensation changes for Catherine 
Lemmer, Executive Director. The Board voted on the Annual Current Salary 5% Increase of $6,636 
from $132,710 to $139,346, and a one-time merit bonus of 2% or $2,654. This makes the total 
annual compensation of $142,000 for FY2023. 



 
Lake Forest Library Board of Trustees 
Regular Meeting Minutes 
May 10, 2022 
 
 

Page 6 of 6 
 

 
Trustee Lemke made a motion and seconded by Trustee Shattock to approve Catherine Lemmer’s 
Annual Current Salary 5% Increase of $6,636 from $132,710 to $139,346. 
8 yea votes (Trustees Arnson, Bertola, Clifton, Desmond, Grob, Johnson, Lemke, and Shattuck), 1 
no vote (Trustee Strong). Motion passed on a roll call vote. 
 
Trustee Grob made a motion and seconded by Trustee Bertola to approved was one-time Merit 
Bonus of 2% or $2,654, making the total annual compensation of $142,000 for FY2023. 
7 yea votes (Trustees Arnson, Bertola, Clifton, Grob, Johnson, Lemke, and Shattuck), 2 no votes 
(Trustees Desmond and Strong). Motion passed on a roll call vote. 
  
UNFINISHED BUSINESS  
None 
 
NEW BUSINESS  
None 
 
ADJOURNMENT   
Trustee Desmond made a motion, seconded by Trustee Shattock, to the adjourn the meeting.  
President Johnson adjourned the meeting by a visual vote at 10:18 p.m.  
 
Upcoming Meeting: Regular Board Meeting, June 14, 2022. 
  
 
 
___________________________________________________ 
Elizabeth Grob, Secretary   
Minutes approved by the Board on June 14, 2022.  
 

 



Lake Forest Library Board of Trustees 
360 E. Deerpath Road, Lake Forest, IL 60045 

Regular Meeting Minutes 
7:30 p.m., June 14, 2022 

 
CALL TO ORDER  
President John F. Johnson welcomed all and called the meeting to order at 7:30 p.m. on June 
14, 2022. 
 
ROLL CALL 
Trustees Present: Germaine Arnson, JoAnn Desmond, Elizabeth Grob, John F. Johnson, Andrea 
Lemke, Sue Shattock, and Heather Strong.   
Absent:  Bryan Bertola, Jim Clifton 
7 trustees in attendance, a quorum was present. 
Staff Present: Catherine Lemmer, Executive Director; Ed Finn, Director of Operations; Kate 
Buckardt, Head of Adult Services; Sameer Notta, Finance Officer; Lori Rohrer, Head of Children’s 
Library; Tori Sergel, Head of Circulation; Chris Wheeler, Facilities Manager; and Emmy Neal, YA 
Librarian.  
 
PRESIDENT’S REMARKS 
President Johnson introduced Emmy Neal, Young Adult Librarian, who introduced the 
Presidential Service Awards to two local teens for their outstanding service to the Lake Forest 
community.  Nelli Sandor received the Silver Presidential Service Award for completing 77 
service hours.  Aiza Mirza received the Bronze Presidential Service Award for completing 51 
services hours.  Nelli and Aiza are both rising freshmen and recent graduates of Deer Path 
Middle School.  They volunteered at DPM to help with new student orientations and events, in 
addition to working with organizations across our community like CROYA, Bernie’s Book Bank 
and of course, the Young Adult Advisory Board at the Lake Forest Library.  Also, they assisted 
with the Friends of the Lake Forest Library at their annual Book Sale.   
 
CALL FOR ADDITIONS TO THE AGENDA   
No additions to the agenda. Trustee Strong asked that the Microsoft Power BI graphs and 
charts presented as part of the Strategic Plan Progress Report be discussed. 
 
OPPORTUNITY FOR THE PUBLIC TO ADDRESS THE BOARD 
None. 
 
CORRESPONDENCE AND INFORMATION REPORT 
There was discussion that even though the Library is a public institution and all information is 
part of the public record, the Library should be cautious in sharing personal contact 
information. 
 
 
 



Lake Forest Library Board of Trustees 
Regular Meeting Minutes 
June 14, 2022 
 
 

Page 2 of 5 
 

APPROVAL OF THE CONSENT AGENDA 
Consent Agenda (omnibus vote on matters 6(a)-6(e)):  

a. Approval of the June 14, 2022 Agenda;  
b. Approval of May 10, 2022 Regular Meeting Minutes;  
c. Approval of the May 2022 Financial Report; and  
d. Authorize the filing of the FY2022 Illinois Public Library Annual Report (IPLAR). 

 
Trustee Strong requested that the May 10, 2022 Regular Meeting Minutes discussing the Wiss, 
Janney, Elstner Associates, Inc. (“WJE”) dome repair presentation be shared with Mr. Itle of 
WJE. President Johnson noted that a recording of the meeting is on the Library’s website and 
offered to send the minutes to Mr. Itle for review.   
 
Trustee Strong requested that the May 2022 Financial Report, and all financial reports going 
forward, include details of the Special Projects and Contractual Services line items.  President 
Johnson will ask Sameer Notta, Financial Officer, to include this data in the monthly reports. 
 
Trustee Arnson made a motion, seconded by Trustee Strong, to approve the Consent Agenda 
except for the May 10, 2022 Regular Meeting Minutes.  7 yea votes. Motion passed 
unanimously on a roll call vote. 
 
DISCUSSION AND APPROVAL OF STAFF AND PUBLIC COMPUTER REFRESH  
Ed Finn led the discussion of the staff and patron computer refresh. He discussed the options of 
outright purchasing, continuing a partial lease, or new leasing.  An outright purchase allows the 
Library to move to a 5-year refresh program and is more cost effective. The request includes an 
additional 10% contingency reserve. 
 
Trustee Desmond asked the purchase includes a maintenance agreement.  Mr. Finn responded 
that there is a 3-year onsite maintenance agreement from the manufacturer that OSG (the 
Library’s Managed Service Provider) helped the Library to secure.  There is an additional 2-year 
extended warranty with offsite maintenance.   
 
Trustee Shattock asked about the number of patron computers in the Library.  Mr. Finn stated 
that the Library reduced the number of patron computers being replaced due to usage.  By 
tracking usage, the Library can consolidate the computers and put them in most used spaces.  
He believes that the Library can adjust the number of computers to meet demand, if necessary.  
There is a continuing decline in the usage of the patron computers. President Johnson asked if 
the computers are desktop-fixed or portable (laptop) computers.  Mr. Finn answered that the 
patron computers are desktop fixed.  Most staff are transitioning to laptop computers. 
 
Mr. Finn stated that the computers should arrive in 2-3 weeks, and then OSG will start 
removing the old computers and installing the new computers with the goal of completing this 
project in August. 



Lake Forest Library Board of Trustees 
Regular Meeting Minutes 
June 14, 2022 
 
 

Page 3 of 5 
 

 
Trustee Lemke made a motion, seconded by Trustee Arnson, to approve the purchase of new 
staff and patron computers not to exceed $133,000.  7 yea votes. Motion passed unanimously 
on a roll call vote. 
 
Trustee Strong asked if this purchase should be bid out to get the best possible price from three 
vendors.  Mr. Finn responded that OSG did the competitive pricing across the market and 
negotiated the purchase at the best price for the equipment that met the Library’s 
specifications. 
 
COMMITTEE REPORTS 
Trustee Arnson, representing the Nominating Committee, proposed the following slate of 
officers for July 1, 2022 through June 30, 2023 term:  

President - John Johnson  
Vice President - Andrea Lemke 
Treasurer - Jim Clifton 
Secretary - Sue Shattock 

 
Trustee Arnson made a motion, seconded by Trustee Desmond, to elect John F. Johnson as 
President for the FY2023 Library Board. 
6 yea votes, Trustee Johnson abstained.  The motion carried on a voice vote. 
 
Trustee Arnson made a motion, seconded by Trustee Desmond, to elect Andrea Lemke as Vice 
President, Jim Clifton as Treasurer, and Sue Shattock as Secretary. 
7 yea votes. Motion passed unanimously on a voice vote. 
 
2021-2023 STRATEGIC PLAN PROGRESS REPORT 
President Johnson complimented Joy Schmoll, Head of Communications, on her work of adding 
photographs and color coding to the 2021 Strategic Plan Progress Report.  President Johnson 
asked each of the Trustees to give their opinion on what the Library has done well and what the 
Library needs to continue to improve.  
 
Trustee Grob mentioned how well the Library has adapted to the changes during the pandemic 
and acquired staff that have succeeded in reshaping the Library with their ideas and tasks. She 
noted the inclusion of metrics to measure the success of the Library. 
 
Trustee Arnson mentioned the evolution of the Strategic Plan, that in the future, Board 
Trustees should keep these goals in mind when making decisions and to continue working on 
connecting to our community.  Her recommendation to the Trustees is that the building is 
important, but what happens inside the building is more important.  
 



Lake Forest Library Board of Trustees 
Regular Meeting Minutes 
June 14, 2022 
 
 

Page 4 of 5 
 

Trustee Desmond stated that the building is a tool to deliver programs to the community, but 
we need to address the limitations of the building.  The Board should refocus on serving the 
west side of Lake Forest, and that the user experience in this building is the highest priority.   
 
Trustee Lemke would like the Board to focus on services to the west side of Lake Forest, 
address the ADA compliance issues facing the building, and continue to improve the 
functionality of the building with the result of allowing anyone easy access to the building. 
 
Trustee Shattock commented on the amazing number of successful programs that the library 
presents.  Noting the clever use of the lobby for programs, she would like the Board to consider 
how to repurpose or transform the space in the building to increase public access and 
functionality for the staff.  
 
Director Lemmer complimented the Library’s tremendous team on their resourcefulness, 
enthusiasm, and their ability to multitask. She is hopeful that the team will soon increase in 
number given the new positions open at the Library (Director of Patron Services, Makerspace & 
Technology Coordinator, Facilities Manager, Assistant Facilities Manager). 
 
Trustee Strong thought that the Strategic Plan Progress Report was easy to read but should 
include the Library’s mission statement and more current photographs within the report. The 
idea of the Library building becoming ADA compliant in the future should be done in a holistic 
manner with the goal of improving the site for the entire population. 
 
President Johnson wants the Board to consider how to make patron services “easy” based on 
the individual’s need of assistance.  This would include assisting in the learning of new 
technology, interacting with residents at the many special events, or gathering for book club 
discussions either in-person or virtually.  Going forward, President Johnson wants to ask the 
community what they would like from the Library, including new ideas for us to try. 
  
President Johnson introduced the Program Reporting Dashboard as an appendix to the 2021-
2023 Strategic Plan Report.  The impetus for development of these reports is to visualize trends 
of the Library, especially when comparing data from pre-COVID to present. Much of the data is 
captured from the Operations Report that the Board receives monthly.  Mr. Finn provided a 
brief overview of the charts. Director Lemmer defined the vocabulary used in the charts. It was 
suggested that the Board receive a tutorial to understand and use the Dashboard. 
 
LIBRARY OPERATIONS REPORT 
President Johnson highlighted the After Hours event of Paul Bergmann’s presentation on The 
Architecture of Stanley D. Anderson.  Also, he congratulated the Friends of Lake Forest Library 
on their successful Children’s Book Sale.  President Johnson informed the Board of the progress 
being made to repair the air conditioning unit. 
 



Lake Forest Library Board of Trustees 
Regular Meeting Minutes 
June 14, 2022 
 
 

Page 5 of 5 
 

PRESIDENT’S REMARKS 
President Johnson presented a Lake Forest Library Resolution to Trustee Arnson and Trustee 
Grob for their completion of six years on the Library Board.  He made kind comments about 
their service and thanked them for their outstanding service as Lake Forest Library Trustees 
from 2016-2022. 
 
UNFINISHED BUSINESS  
None 
 
NEW BUSINESS  
None 
 
ADJOURNMENT   
Trustee Desmond made a motion, seconded by Trustee Shattock, to the adjourn the meeting.  
President Johnson adjourned the meeting with unanimous voice vote at 9:06 p.m.  
 
Upcoming Meeting: Regular Board Meeting, July 12, 2022 
  
 
____________________________________________________ 
Elizabeth Grob, Secretary   
Minutes approved by the Board on July 12, 2022.  
 

 



   

 

Page 1 of 4 

Reserve - Capital Improvements 4,000,000              

Reserve - Technology Improvements 300,000                 

Capital Equipment 300,000                 

Fund Balance - Unassigned 1,550,419              

6,150,419$           

*In FY 2022 Dome Repair Amount was $28,155

**Detail on Last page of the Report

Total Reserve Amount

Reserves

YTD Budget Budget Realized
Tax Based 2,003,541              4,394,900               46%

Non-Tax-Based 24,562                   53,000                     46%

Gifts & Grants -                          2,500                       0%

Library Generated 18,292                   88,260                     21%

$2,046,396 $4,538,660 45%

YTD Budget Budget Utilized
Salary & Wages 217,389                 1,954,260               11%

Benefits 82,462                   791,831                   10%

Building & Grounds: 66,581                   438,675                   15%

        - Dome Repair* 9,375                      

        - Contractual Service Building** 2,789                      

Library Materials 111,378                 625,260                   18%

Special Projects -                          82,000                     0%

Contractual Services Library** 78,560                   301,800                   26%

Other** 29,410                   312,864                   9%

585,780                 4,506,690               13%

$1,460,615

FY2023 Revenue & Expenditure Statement
                                For the YTD June - 2022

Revenues

Total Revenues

Expenses

Total Expenses

Total Net Income

  Agenda Item 6(d) 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 



   

 

Page 2 of 4 

May June YTD Budget
Tax Based 295,420                                     1,708,122                                  2,003,541                                  4,394,900                                           

Non-Tax-Based 24,562                                        -                                              24,562                                        53,000                                                

Gifts & Grants -                                              -                                              -                                               2,500                                                   

Library Generated 991                                             17,300                                        18,292                                        88,260                                                

$320,973 $1,725,422 $2,046,396 $4,538,660

May June YTD Budget
Salary & Wages 93,274                                        124,115                                     217,389                                      1,954,260                                           

Benefits 41,390                                        41,072                                        82,462                                        791,831                                              

Building & Grounds 25,568                                        41,013                                        66,581                                        438,675                                              

            Dome Repair -                                              9,375                                          9,375                                          

            Contractual Services Building 2,539                                          250                                             2,789                                          

Library Materials 45,710                                        65,668                                        111,378                                      625,260                                              

Special Projects -                                              -                                              -                                               82,000                                                

Contractual Services Library 29,474                                        49,086                                        78,560                                        301,800                                              

Other 19,965                                        9,445                                          29,410                                        312,864                                              

$255,381 $330,399 585,780                                      4,506,690                                           

$65,592 $1,395,023 1,460,615                                  

FY2023 Revenue & Expenditure Statement
For the YTD June - 2022

Total Net Income

Revenues

Expenses

Total Revenues

Total Expenses

 
 
 

  
 
 
 
 

  
  

 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 
 
 
 



   

 

Page 3 of 4 

Lake Forest Library 
Financial Notes and Variance Report   

For the Month of June 2022 (Month 02) FY2023 
 

Funds on Hand: $1,550,419 (unrestricted/unaudited) The account value is reset at the end of the FY2022 audit when surplus funds are allocated to either this 
unrestricted reserve or the restricted reserve accounts. 
 

General Operations - Revenues 
Property Tax: As of June 30, the Library received $2,003,541 in property tax distributions which is 46% of annual budget.  
 

Non-Tax-Based: As of June 30, the Library received $24,562 in non-tax-based revenues. $24,562 reflects the first installment of the replacement of personal 
property tax payment. Non-tax-based income is 46% of FY budget.  
 

Library-Generated: As of June 30, the Library received $18,292 in Library generated income. This income is from copiers and miscellaneous fees. Overall, the Library 
generated income of 21% of FY budget.  
 

Gifts: As of June 30, no gifts and grants were received by the Library. 
 

General Operations - Expenditures  
Salaries, wages, and benefits: As of June 30, $217,390 for salaries and wages: 11% of FY budget; $82,462 for benefits: 10% of FY budget. $16,216 for SSN: 11% of 
FY budget; $14,663 for IMRF: 7% of FY budget. 
 

Materials: Books, AV, and Electronic Services: As of June 30, $111,378: 18% of FY budget, this includes payments for periodical and database subscriptions. 
 

Other Operating Expenditures: As of June 30, $107,970: 15% of FY budget. Includes $79,560 in contractual services Library, paid 1st year of RFID payment of $24,041 
to Bibliotheca. 
 

Building and Grounds: As of June 30, $66,581: 15% of FY budget. Reflects the contracts and service calls for the cleaning service, elevator, repairs for HVAC, and 
other systems. First quarter of liability/casualty insurance premium of $8,739 has been paid.  
 

Capital: As of June 30, $2,921: 1.7% of FY budget has been spent on the APC rack mountable smart UPS, APC network card and WJE $9,375 for Dome repair and 
restoration project.  
 
Reserves  
$1,550,419 - Operating cash reserve (fund balance-unassigned). The Library’s restricted reserves are currently $4,600,000: capital equipment ($300,000), capital 
improvements ($4,000,000), and technology ($300,000). An estimated amount of $921,188 un-utilized budget for FY2022 will be reflected in the operating cash 
reserve in upcoming months. 
 

Year to Date FY2023: 13% of budget expenses; 45% budget revenues. 
 
 
 



   

 

Page 4 of 4 

Description May June YTD Budget

Administrative Services 2,201            -              2,201$          26,401$          

Personnel Recruitment -                -              -$              500$                

Training and Development 47                  930             977$             15,000$          

Membership Dues 2,035            -              2,035$          9,000$            

Meeting & Expenses -                -              -$              2,500$            

Legal -                -              -$              10,000$          

Auditing Service -                -              -$              7,725$            

Technology Purchase (or Lease) 1,532            2,634          4,166$          50,000$          

Programming 13,122          5,093          18,214$       137,000$       

Online Banking Fees -                138             138$             1,500$            

Insurance - Liability -                -              -$              8,000$            

Telephone 66                  306             372$             8,713$            

Office Supplies 50                  151             201$             26,875$          

Postage 798                7                  805$             6,150$            

Vending Beverages 114                187             301$             3,500$            

Total 19,965$       9,445$       29,410$       312,864$       

Description May June YTD Budget

CCS (Integrated Library System) 12,412       12,412$  76,400$    

CIT Computer Equipment Lease 4,167          1,679          5,846$    50,000$    

LAN, WAV, and Support (MSP) 8,477          8,480          16,956$  103,000$  

OCLC/RAILS/ISL 670             -              670$        10,000$    

Bibliotheca (RFID) Lease -              24,041       24,041$  25,000$    

Online/Internet (fiber) 3,747          -              3,747$    20,000$    

Other: Web Calendar Subscription, Software 

Licenses & Web hosting and maintenance
-              14,886       14,886$  17,400$    

Total 29,474$     49,085$     78,559$  301,800$  

Description May June YTD Budget

Water Treatment 250       250     500$       

Alarm System 2,185    2,185$    

Inner Security System 104       104$       

Total 2,539$ 250$   2,789$    22,550$    

Account Details 
 
Contractual Services Library            Contractual Service Building 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Others 
 



FY22 FY22 FY22
Budget As of Apr 30 Difference FY22 Budget - FY22

Revenue
Tax-Based $4,307,816 $4,375,174 $67,358
TIF Payout $0 $0 $0
Other Revenue $59,000 $161,737 $102,737
Library Revenue $18,450 $65,582 $47,132
Gifts $2,500 $16,320 $13,820
Friends of LF Library Grant $0 $0 $0
Total Revenues $4,387,766 $4,618,813 $231,047
  
 
Operating Expenditures
Salary & Benefits $2,618,814 $2,193,051 $425,763
Collections: Print, A/V, E-Resources $604,500 $508,435 $96,065
Contractual Services Library* $286,400 $278,564 $7,836
Special Projects* $200,000 $150,308 $49,692
Programming $75,000 $63,601 $11,399
Other Expenditures $133,657 $87,225 $46,432
Building & Grounds $268,000 $242,705 $25,295
Total Operating Expenditures $4,186,371 $3,523,889 $662,482

Total Capital and Technology
Capital Equipment $40,000 $19,553 $20,447
Technology Upgrades $125,000 $126,029 ($1,029)
Capital Improvements $30,000 $28,155 $1,845
Total Capital and Technology $195,000 $173,737 $21,263
  
Total Expenditures $4,381,371 $3,697,626 $683,745

 
Difference in Revenues and 
Expenditures

$6,395 $921,187 $914,792

Committed Funds $4,600,000

Funds on Hand $1,550,419
Total Funds $7,071,606

*Detail on Next Page of Report

Overview of Fiscal Year 2022 

As the Library moves through the FY2022 audit process, the Library anticipates FY2022 
operations will reflect a surplus due to increased revenues and lower than expected expenses 
due to the continued impact of COVID on personnel and operations.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Contractual Services Library Details 

 

 

Special Projects Details 

 

 

 

FY22 FY22 FY22
DESCRIPTION Budget As of Apr 30 Difference FY22 Budget - FY22

CCS (Integrated Library System) $74,000 $76,709 ($2,709)
CIT Computer Equipment Lease $39,000 $35,078 $3,922
LAN, WAV, and Support (MSP) $96,000 $91,184 $4,816
OCLC/RAILS/ISL $13,000 $750 $12,250
Online/Internet/Fiber $18,000 $22,117 ($4,117)
Leased Equipment $44,000 $34,546 $9,454
Other: Web Calendar Subscription, Software 
Licenses & Web hosting and maintenance

$2,400 $18,179 ($15,779)

Total $286,400 $278,564 $7,836

FY22 FY22 FY22
DESCRIPTION Budget As of Apr 30 Difference FY22 Budget - FY22

Burges & Burges Strategists, Inc. $7,500
Promotion - Community Boards $150
Hammel, Green And Abrahamson, Inc $27,658
Lake Forest  Library Foundation ($10,000)
The Hodge Group $125,000
Total $200,000 $150,308 $49,692



������������	
��


�������
���������������������������� �!��"�#����$�������

%&%'()*+,-./'01234'5'32678'9:;<=>?@ABCBDEEEFBDEEGBHIJBDEKGBL<BBM@NBOPN=>QHIBRISA>ATANB:UBO=Q@>ANQASVBOWWB=>?@ASB=NSN=XNJVBM@NBYOPN=>QHIBRISA>ATANB:UB
O=Q@>ANQASFZBYOROFZBA@NBOROB[:?:FBHIJBYOROB9:IA=HQAB\:QTPNIASZBH=NB=N?>SAN=NJBA=HJNPH=]SBHIJBPH<BI:ABLNBTSNJB̂>A@:TAB;N=P>SS>:IVBM@>SBJ:QTPNIAB̂HSB
;=:JTQNJBL<BOROBS:UÂH=NBHABKE_D̀_DaBbMB:IBEGcEGcDEDDBTIJN=Bd=JN=Be:VaKEfDagKhEB̂@>Q@BNi;>=NSB:IBEKcKfcDEDaFB>SBI:ABU:=B=NSHWNFB>SBW>QNISNJBU:=B:INjA>PNBTSNB
:IW<FBHIJBPH<B:IW<BLNBTSNJB>IBHQQ:=JHIQNB̂>A@BA@NBOROB9:IA=HQAB\:QTPNIASkBMN=PSB:UBlN=X>QNVBM:B=N;:=ABQ:;<=>?@ABX>:WHA>:ISFBNjPH>WBQ:;<=>?@AmH>HV:=?V
no-p'q)/-orBB sathO\OfKu

6

vwxyz{|}~������������������ �	wzz�z�|����xw��|�x�} ��z���z�|����xw��|�x�}
����~������~�������~�~����~����������� �����~�� �����~¡¢£~¤¥¤¡ ¦���§����~̈©�����~¥¥¡
ª«¥~¬���~������®~���§
����~������£~̄�~«¥¥°¢

�����~±©²�~¡¤£~¤¥¤¤

x³�zw}~������������������ �w{́�|z{|}~������������������
����~������~������� µ���£~±�����£~¬²�����~¦��� �����£~̄� ¶
ª«¥~¬���~������®~���§

����~������£~̄�~«¥¥°¢

ªª¥~·̧��¹����~���§
�̈��®�����£~̄�~«¥¥«¤

º®�~»¼���~��§~¦� ®��� �~����§~�®�~¦¹�������~��~̧�²²�¼��~
·���������~�̧~ �����© ����~§� ©�����~��§~��§§��¹~®���~���½� ��~��~§�� ����§~��~�®�~µ±¬~�����²~²�����~§���§~±©��~¤¥£~¤¥¤¤¶

º®�~¦� ®��� �¾�~ ����������~��§~� ®�§©²�~�®�²²~��~�§¿©���§~��~̧�²²�¼��~

À����������~¦§¿©�������~
��Á�§~̧��~�� �����~�̧~Â¤Ã£¢¥¥¶

Ä ®�§©²�~¦§¿©�������~
À�����© ����~§� ©�����~��~��~���©�§~̧��~��§~��~��~���©�~Ä�������~«£~¤¥¤¤¶~Å�§�~��~��~��½��¼�§~��~» �����~¤¥¤¤¶

~

Æ�	��|ÇwzÆ}

µ���£~±�����£~¬²�����~¦��� �����£~̄� ¶ ����~������~�������
�w{́�|z{|È�ÉÊ�������� x³�zw~�ÉÊ��������

~ ~

Æ�	��|Çwz Æ�	��|Çwz

Ë�����®~Ì¶~̄�²�£~¦��� ����~·��� ��² ±�®�~�¶~±�®����£~Å���§~·����§���
vw��|z�����z�����|�|Íz vw��|z�����z�����|�|Íz

±©²�~¡¤£~¤¥¤¤ ~~~~~
��|z ��|z













































   
 

July 2022 Library Operations Report       Page 1 of 6 

Agenda Item 8 

Library Operations Report 

July 12, 2022 Board Meeting  
 
May 2022 Select Stats (May 2020 limited access) 

• 13,314 Library visits and 430 offsite engagements  

• 25,454 items circulated to library users as compared to 24,382 in May 2021.  

• 6,372 e-media resources circulated as compared to 5,660 in May 2021. The most used 
platforms were Illinois Digital Library (OverDrive/Libby) with 4,252 uses and Freegal 
(music streaming and downloads) with 826 uses.  

• 24,445 database uses were recorded with the highest use reporting from Value Line, 
S&P Net Advantage, and Morningstar, with 1,690, 755, and 751 users, respectively. The 
Library offers 33 paid database subscriptions to adults and children.  

• 987 participants attended 59 active (in-person, hybrid, virtual) programs and 1,218 
participants attended or participated in 11 passive asynchronous programs and 
activities (including to-go and on-site craft projects) and post-live viewing options 

• Patrons received 73 one-on-one e-tutorials/tech help sessions  

• 3,321 reference, information, reader’s advisory, and library resource questions were 
answered. 

• 33 individual media lab sessions were held. 

• 130 library cards were issued or renewed.  

• 22,614 Wi-Fi sessions were recorded as compared to 22,600 in May 2021, and 966 public 
desk top computer sessions. Public computers were not available for use in May 2021 
due to COVID restrictions.  
 

May 2022 Select Program Stats* 
During May the Library engaged 430 children and adults at off-site programs. These include book 
talks at Lake Forest Country Day School, Little Historians Storytime at The History Center, 
storytimes and storywalks at Sheridan and Everett schools, as well as programs at Dickinson Hall 
and Lake Forest High School. 
 
The following table details the program efforts during the month of May: 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Number of Programs Participants 

Active Adult 18 175 

Active Teen 7 57 

Active Children (ages 0-5) 26 701 

Active Children (ages 6-11) 8 54 

Total Active 59 987 

Passive Adult 1 35 

Passive Teen 0 0 

Passive Children (ages 0-5) 3 985 

Passive Children (ages 6-11) 7 198 

Total Passive 11 1,218 



   
 

July 2022 Library Operations Report       Page 2 of 6 

*The Library collects program data using the Illinois State Library definitions stated in question 
15 of the IPLAR (Illinois Public Library Annual Report) previously distributed to the Board for the 
June 14, 2022 meeting (page 28 of the June 14, 2022 Board package).  
 

 

Program Highlights from June 2022 
The three-part Space Age Adventures for Children about space exploration, developed by 
Children’s Librarian Michelle Frigo, concluded with an in-person meeting with Captain Jim Lovell, 
NASA astronaut and commander of Apollo 13. 

 

 
 

 
 
 



   
 

July 2022 Library Operations Report       Page 3 of 6 

Summertime brings courtyard storytimes and art fun on the front lawn. 
Big & Messy brought a splash of color to the front lawn on a warm 
summer afternoon.  
 
 
 

 

 

 

Emmy Neal, the Library’s YA Librarian, kept our teens active and engaged in 

June painting jellyfish while sipping Capri Sun during the fun Teen Paint and 

Sip: Jellyfish  and Tie-Dye Party on the front lawn programs, attending the 

Safe@Home class to learn important safety training to help them be prepared 

to stay home alone, and attending the child care classes by SafeSitter to learn 

child care to first aid to business, and expanding their horizons by taste testing 

some delicious candies from across the Pacific Ocean while watching their 

favorite anime shows and movie trailers for the event Trendy Taste Tests: A 

Taste of Japan.  

         

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



   
 

July 2022 Library Operations Report       Page 4 of 6 

A program by Lake County Forest Preserves on Owls in Lake County entertained over 25 patrons, 

adults and families who gathered to learn more about these amazing birds. The presentation 

included a planned visit from a Screech Owl. 

     

Lake Forest Police Officers were on hand on a beautiful Saturday afternoon to chat with families 

about bike safety. They handed out stickers and bike bells, showed off their bikes and their utility 

belts and interacted with the children. This is a repeat program from a few years ago and is a 

wonderful way for the Lake Forest Police Department to connect with the community in a casual 

drop-in atmosphere. 

The Library hosted a program on Transit Hikes, how to use public transportation to access trails 

and hiking paths in the area. Our local train lines can do more than take us to work in the city. 

The program is available for viewing on the Library’s YouTube Channel at 

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=X2RGHIoua1s through July 11. 

Lake Forest residents came out in full force to support the Library’s collection of food and 

durable goods for the Midwest Veterans Closet. The Library transported two car loads of 

donated items.  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=X2RGHIoua1s
http://www.midwestveteranscloset.org/


   
 

July 2022 Library Operations Report       Page 5 of 6 

 
Friends of Lake Forest Library Book Sale 
The Friends of the Lake Forest Library held their annual Children’s Book Sale in the Library foyer 
June 9–11. Community residents and others were waiting for the doors to open. The Friends are 
busy preparing for the annual sale in September.  
 

      
 
Per Capital Grant 
The Library received notice of an Illinois Public Library Per Capita Grant award of $28,566.33. 
The application was filed in January 2022 after the completion of the review of the Standards 
for Illinois Public Libraries by the Library Board and Staff in 4th quarter 2021.  
 

Personnel Matters 

• On July 18, the Library will welcome Jim Lee, as its new Facilities Manager. Jim has 
experience in construction and vendor management, project management, customer 
service, and safety and is currently the Facilities Coordinator at Zion Benton Public Library. 
Jim replaces Chris Wheeler, who left the Library on June 28 to become the Plant Operations 
Maintenance Manager at Highland Park Hospital. During his tenure as Facilities Manager, 
Chris increased efficiency, organization, and helped lead the Library throughout the COVID-
19 pandemic. 

• On July 11, the Library welcomed Dan Thompson as the new Assistant Facilities Manager. 
Dan has experience in all components of Facilities, including program setup, vendor 
management, and project management. Dan was most recently the Building Superintendent 
at St. John’s Lutheran Church and School.  

• On July 25, the Library will welcome Chad Clark as the new Makerspace & Technology 
Coordinator. Chad comes to the Library with over 10 years of technology and management 
experience in public libraries. 

 
Operations 

• The new staff and patron computers have begun arriving. Two engineers and our account 
representative from OSG will be on-hand on July 15 and working in the expansion area to 
get the computers configured, set up, and deployed. Additionally, the OSG team will assist 
in the packaging and return of the CIT leased computers currently in use at the Library. The 
Board will be updated regarding final cost once all equipment has arrived. 

• OSG has begun working to move the remaining Active Directory services to Microsoft Azure. 
This will allow the Library to be more nimble and not reliant on physical on-premises servers 
for network authentication. 



   
 

July 2022 Library Operations Report       Page 6 of 6 

Facilities Projects 

• Hill Mechanical continues to troubleshoot the 1977 chiller system that supplies the North, 
East, and West wings of the building. The repair was undertaken as opposed to a 
replacement due to supply chain delays, causing equipment delays until well after the 
cooling season. At this point, the unit is providing air conditioning and running at full capacity 
(approximately 30 tons). However, more work needs to be done to clear debris from the 
water supply system. A detailed summary will be provided to the Board once all required 
work is completed.  

• Hill Mechanical’s Special Projects Division has provided an initial scope of work to the Library 
for the replacement of the current water-cooled chiller with a modern air-cooled unit. 
Library staff will arrange for a time for the Building Committee to meet with Hill to determine 
the next steps. 

• Hill Mechanical’s Special Projects Division is working on multiple quotes for replacements, 
upgrades, and enhancements to the current HVAC system building wide. The Operations 
team has asked for multiple potential paths forward to help transition the building to a more 
modern and reliable system. Library staff will arrange for a time for the Building Committee 
to meet with Hill to review this information. 

• Patch work on the exposed aggregate concrete walkways will commence where the 
pathways have become uneven. A long-term solution to this issue is being explored. 

• Library staff has reached out to the City for guidance in repairing the front limestone gates 
that have degraded due to age and weather. 


	00 agenda July 12, 2022 
	01 Agenda Item 5 Correspondence and Information Report July 12, 2022 Board Meeting 
	01A Agenda Item 5 2022 Per Cap Award Letter
	02 Agenda Item 6(b) May 10 Board Minutes
	03 Agenda Item 6(c) June 14, 2022 Board Minutes
	03 Agenda Item 6(d) (1) June 14, 2022 Board Minutes
	03 Agenda Item 6(d) (2) June 14, 2022 Board Minutes
	05 WJE July 2022 Amendment G802-2017 - Final - 001
	05A WJE Contract (12-17-2021)
	06 Agenda Item 8 Operations Report July 12 2022

